          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS,

          8  PUBLIC SITING And MARITIME USES

          9  -------------------------------x

         10

                            January 8, 2007

         11                 Start:  11:15 a.m.

                            Recess: 1:02 p.m.

         12

                            City Hall

         13                 Council Chambers

                            New York, New York

         14

         15       B E F O R E:

         16              JESSICA LAPPIN

                                           Chairperson,

         17

         18              COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Leroy Comrie

                                            John Liu

         19                                 Miguel Martinez

                                            Maria Arroyo

         20                                 Rosie Mendez

                                            Albert Vann

         21                                 Robert Jackson

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Diane Jackier

          4  Director of External Affairs

             Landmarks Preservation Commission

          5

             Simein Bankhoff

          6  Executive Director

             Historic Districts Council

          7

             Greg Todd

          8  Crown Heights North Association

          9  Valorie Bowers

             Crown Heights North Association

         10

             Denise Brown

         11  Crown Heights North Association

         12  Dennis M. Walcott

             Deputy Mayor for Education and Community Development

         13

             Sharon Greenberger

         14  President and CEO

             NYC School Construction Authority

         15

             Ross Holden

         16  Vice President and General Counsel

             NYC School Construction Authority

         17

             Kenrick Ou

         18  Site Acquisition Manager

             NYC School Construction Authority

         19

             Michael Sherwood

         20  Environmental Consultant to the SCA

             Shaw Environmental

         21

             Dave Palmer

         22  New York Lawyers For The Public Interest

         23  Kevin Olson

             New York Lawyers For The Public Interest

         24

             Veronica Eady

         25  Concerned Residents Organization

                                                            3

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             Joel Kupferman

          4  New York Environmental Law Justice Project

          5  Father Peter Gavigan

             South Bronx Churches

          6

             Marielys Divanne

          7  South Bronx Churches

          8  Chaira Salem

             Bronx Committee for Toxic-Free Schools

          9

             Omar Salem

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            4

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Welcome to the

          3  Land Use Subcommittee of the Landmarks, Public

          4  Siting and Maritime Uses. We have two items that are

          5  on the agenda for hearings today, the first is an

          6  item in Council Member Vann's district, the George

          7  and Susan Elkins House, which is located at 1375

          8  Dean Street in Brooklyn. And to testify for the

          9  Administration, Landmark Preservation Commission, is

         10  Diane Jackier.

         11                 And just before you begin, Diane, I'm

         12  going to introduce my colleagues who are here today.

         13  Council Member Rosie Mendez, from Manhattan, Council

         14  Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo from the Bronx,

         15  Council Member Leroy Comrie from Queens, Council

         16  Member Miguel Martinez from Manhattan and Council

         17  Member Al Vann from Brooklyn. I'm Jessica Lappin.

         18                 MS. JACKIER: Good morning.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Happy New Year.

         20                 MS. JACKIER: Happy New Year to you.

         21                 Before I begin with my testimony,

         22  Council members, I just wanted to let you know, the

         23  owner of the Elkins house has commended a proceeding

         24  to force the Department of Buildings to issue a demo

         25  permit for their building. So, I just wanted to let
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          2  you know about it, and if you have any further

          3  questions after my testimony, I'd be happy to answer

          4  them. And our Counsel, Mark Silberman, is here as

          5  well.

          6                 Good morning, Council members, my

          7  name is Diane Jackier, Director of External Affairs

          8  for the Landmarks Preservation Commission.

          9                 I'm here today to testify on the

         10  Commission's designation of the Elkins House as a

         11  New York City landmark.

         12                 On September 26th, 2006, the

         13  Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public

         14  hearing on the proposed designation of the Elkins

         15  House. Seven people spoke in favor, including

         16  representatives of the Crown Heights North

         17  Association, the Dean Street Block Association, the

         18  Historic Districts Council and the Society for the

         19  Architecture of the City.

         20                 The Commission has also received a

         21  resolution from Brooklyn Community Board 8 in

         22  support of designation. On October 24th, 2006, the

         23  Commission voted to designate the Elkins House a New

         24  York City landmark.

         25                 Nestled among elegant turn of the
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          2  century rowhouses, flats and apartment buildings in

          3  Brooklyn's Crown Heights section, the George and

          4  Susan Elkins house is a rare surviving example of a

          5  mid-19th century vernacular country home and a

          6  tangible link to the neighborhood's earliest years.

          7                 Set back from Dean Street between

          8  Brooklyn and Kingston Avenues, and standing in

          9  surprising contrast to its brick and stone

         10  surroundings, the wood-framed Elkins House was

         11  constructed between 1854 and 1865, when it was first

         12  occupied by the Elkins family. Massachusetts

         13  natives, the Elkins moved to Brooklyn in 1845.

         14  George was a merchant in Lower Manhattan through the

         15  1850s, but by 1861, he had entered the real estate

         16  business, and by 1865, the Elkins family was living

         17  in this house.

         18                 A modestly ornamented example of the

         19  Greek Revival and Italianate styles, which gained

         20  wide popularity, beginning around 1850, largely

         21  through the pattern books of Andrew Jackson Downing,

         22  Samuel Sloan, Henry W. Cleaveland, and others, the

         23  Elkins House features a cubical form, as well as a

         24  full-width front porch and small attic-level windows

         25  sandwiched between a wrap-around molding and broad
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          2  overhanging cornice. Its simple detailing

          3  communicates the house's early history as a rural

          4  residence in a sparsely populated portion of

          5  Brooklyn. It remains a unique example of a

          6  freestanding wood-framed suburban cottage, a type of

          7  house that is believed to have all but vanished from

          8  northwestern Crown Heights.

          9                 The Commission urges you to affirm

         10  this designation.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 And of course, Council Member Barron

         14  is not here today, but I noticed in your designation

         15  report that there is a discussion of both Native

         16  Americans and slaves on the site.

         17                 MS. JACKIER: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So, the Committee

         19  will note that and we'll make sure that Council

         20  Member Barron is aware of that because it's been an

         21  issue that has come up many times at this Committee.

         22                 MS. JACKIER: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: My understanding

         24  is that this is a house that would have normally

         25  been considered regularly within a potential
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          2  historic district in Crown Heights but is so special

          3  and distinct historically that it's been sort of

          4  considered separate and apart from the larger

          5  historic district.

          6                 MS. JACKIER: Yes. This building is

          7  actually part of the proposed Crown Heights North

          8  Historic District, which the Commission had

          9  commenced the public process for this last June,

         10  June of 2006, because of issues relating to what the

         11  owner had applied for a demo permit to demolish the

         12  building.  Because of the fact that it is the oldest

         13  building within the proposed Crown Heights North

         14  Historic District, the Commission felt that because

         15  it was threatened with demolition, it was important

         16  enough, it merited individual landmark status, so

         17  the Commission pursued it as an individual.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Which is

         19  significant, because the historic district is

         20  important in and of itself.

         21                 MS. JACKIER: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: And to recognize

         23  this is the only free-standing wood country house

         24  that remains, and is really special within an area

         25  that is special, I think it is important for the
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          2  Committee to note.

          3                 Just out of curiosity, the demolition

          4  permit was applied for before or after the item was

          5  calendared?

          6                 MS. JACKIER: After.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay.

          8                 MS. JACKIER: After it was calendared

          9  as part of the proposed Crown Heights North Historic

         10  District.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So, it is

         12  protected in a sense, although I'm sure there is

         13  legal -- I mean, I would just say I am so sick and

         14  tired of owners trying to circumvent the law, the

         15  letter or the spirit by obtaining demolition permits

         16  when they know that the item is up for discussion or

         17  has potential to be discussed. That's the whole

         18  point of the landmark law.

         19                 I wanted to give Council Member Vann

         20  an opportunity, since this is in his district, to

         21  make a statement or ask any questions.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Actually, Madam

         23  Chair, your questions have really made statements

         24  more adequately and articulately than I could. I

         25  would just say ditto all that you have said, and
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          2  that the Committee is in full support of landmarking

          3  and I support my community's interest.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Do any of my

          5  colleagues have questions?

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 The next panel, we'll have one panel

          8  in favor, Simein Bankhoff from the Historic

          9  Districts Council, Greg Todd, Crown Heights North

         10  Association, Valorie Bowers, Crown Heights North

         11  Association, and Denise Brown, Crown Heights North

         12  Association, as well. You can all come up together,

         13  and then Simein can begin, and then you can just

         14  introduce yourself. As you give your testimony, if

         15  you can each introduce yourself for the record

         16  before you begin. Thanks.

         17                 MR. BANKHOFF: Thank you very much.

         18  Simein Bankoff, Executive Director of the Historic

         19  Districts Council.

         20                 First off, I would like to wish the

         21  Council members a happy new year and say it's

         22  pleasant to be here, especially on such an important

         23  issue.

         24                 The Historic Districts Council is in

         25  full support of the designation of this building.
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          2  The designation report well documents the importance

          3  of this particular house within the context of the

          4  larger area, as well as its visual importance as a

          5  distinct reminder of the rural nature of Brooklyn

          6  when it was built, as opposed to the masonry

          7  neighborhood which is being proposed for the Crown

          8  Heights North Historic District.

          9                 I should just say for the record that

         10  the LPC has been interested, it first appeared on a

         11  survey in the late seventies, in this area, and the

         12  LPC has been seriously interested in this

         13  Administration since at least 2004, it has been

         14  under consideration with the community, and then

         15  they calendar this.

         16                 This is really an instance, we feel,

         17  of the Landmarks Commission doing what the public

         18  and the Council have been asking the agency to do,

         19  which is transparently setting their goals for

         20  designation and moving forward with due haste on

         21  those goals.

         22                 When Landmarks decided to prioritize

         23  the Crown Heights North area for designation, was

         24  moving towards it and was aided by the Council's

         25  amended budget, which we hope will be passed again,
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          2  renewed. So, this is a case where the agency is in

          3  the position to protect its priorities while moving

          4  forward in a very transparent, clean way.

          5                 We urge the Council to support this,

          6  and we thank you.

          7                 MR. TODD: Yes, my name is Greg Todd.

          8  I'm a Board Member of Crown Heights North

          9  Association, and I moved to Crown Heights in 2002,

         10  and the first month I was there we had the first

         11  meeting of Crown Heights North Association, four

         12  years ago now, and approximately two years ago we

         13  had a public hearing, which was well attended,

         14  several hundred people there, including the Chair of

         15  the Landmarks Commission, and at that time we

         16  revealed our desire to landmark the entire block,

         17  and several blocks around it. So, there was

         18  obviously a lot of public notice and awareness in

         19  the community in this area and that particular house

         20  was being considered. So there was not like there

         21  was lack of notice on the part of the developer. He

         22  certainly should have been aware of the fact that it

         23  was calendared, and the Buildings Department

         24  database would have certainly ticked him off, or

         25  tipped him off, I should say, probably ticked him
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          2  off too. But be that as it may, he certainly appears

          3  to be trying to circumvent or go against the

          4  intentions of the community and the law, as it were

          5  in this regard. And if you would go down that block,

          6  you would immediately see this house, it stands out

          7  very distinctly from the adjacent properties. It's

          8  set back further from the street, it's of a mason,

          9  or pardon me, of a frame structure and the rest are

         10  bricks, are brownstone.

         11                 But even if you didn't know it was

         12  intended to be a landmarked are, it just looks older

         13  and different, and distinct, and it should be, I

         14  believe protected.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MS. BOWERS: My name is Valorie

         17  Bowers, and I live in the proposed area that's being

         18  considered in the first phase. I live on 1148 Dean

         19  Street. And as Greg said, we had started four and a

         20  half years ago to work on landmarking and so we've

         21  done a great deal of work, and we have a lot of

         22  information and a lot of input from all of our

         23  community leaders and LPC and HDC, and Crown Heights

         24  North residents have worked hard to maintain

         25  architectural gems over the 40 and 50 years. People
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          2  are not transient, they've lived there 40, I've

          3  lived over 50 years, and there is no way you can

          4  buy, spend that much time and money, you do

          5  research, you do title search, he must have been

          6  aware that it was red flagged for consideration for

          7  a landmark designation.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 MS. BROWN: Good morning, Council

         10  members. My name is Denise Brown, and I'm the

         11  Co-Chairperson of the Crown Heights North

         12  Association, and one of the founding members.

         13                 I'm also a long-time community

         14  resident of Crown Heights North. I grew up on Dean

         15  Street, and then subsequently a couple of years

         16  later during the sixties moved to Sterling Place. I

         17  have always have an expressed love for the area,

         18  always knew that what we had there as community

         19  residents and homeowners were treasures that a lot

         20  of the other communities did not know about.

         21                 I always felt that we had hidden

         22  jewels in Crown Heights North, and I mean strong,

         23  strong support of moving forward to designate the

         24  Elkins House and that it remain a treasure amongst

         25  other treasures in the community. And thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very

          3  much for your testimony.

          4                 Oh, actually, hold on one moment.

          5  Council Member Comrie.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: How many

          7  blocks for the entire historic district are being

          8  considered?

          9                 MS. BROWN: Right now there are four

         10  phases. This is one phase one, consists primarily of

         11  Dean Street, which is approximately, I don't have

         12  the map with me, I think it's approximately 20 --

         13  oh, I'm sorry. It's about 400 buildings and it

         14  comprises approximately about 12 to 14 blocks.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         16                 Okay. And that's starting where and

         17  ending where?

         18                 MS. BROWN: It's starting, starting at

         19  Bedford Avenue.  Running east along Dean Street,

         20  with Dean Street being the longest strip, it sort of

         21  jets out at certain points to Pacific Street between

         22  Nostrand and New York, because there's a stand-alone

         23  mansion there, and then it comes back around. But

         24  just to explain it more simply in a more rectangular

         25  sense, is run East from Bedford Avenue, Grant
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          2  Square, down to Kingston Avenue, and then running

          3  south towards Eastern Parkway, approximately to St.

          4  Marks Avenue, the block of the Brooklyn Children's

          5  Museum, and then down to Brooklyn Avenue and going

          6  one block south again to Prospect Place, and then

          7  going back north to Bergen and going down Bergen

          8  back to Bedford Avenue. But that's just phase one.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay, thank

         10  you.

         11                 MS. BROWN: You're welcome.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Any other

         13  questions from my colleagues?

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 MS. BROWN: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: We don't have

         17  anybody else signed up to testify on this item. Is

         18  there anyone else here who wanted to testify on this

         19  item?

         20                 Seeing nobody else, this hearing is

         21  closed. We're going to vote on this item, and I

         22  would like to ask Counsel to call the roll.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Chair Lappin.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Aye.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member
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          2  Comrie.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          5  Martinez.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Aye.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          8  Arroyo.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Aye.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         11  Mendez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Aye.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The vote stands

         14  five in the affirmative, none in the negative, and

         15  no abstentions.  The item passes to the full Land

         16  Use Committee.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: We'll keep the

         18  vote open for the duration of today's meeting. And I

         19  wanted to congratulate you, Council Member Vann.

         20  This will be taken up tomorrow in the full Land Use

         21  Committee.

         22                 We can now open the hearing on the

         23  next item which is the Mott Haven School complex in

         24  Council Member Arroyo's district.

         25                 And if you're here from the public
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          2  and you'd like to testify on this item, please make

          3  sure you fill out a slip and give it to one of the

          4  Sergeant-At-Arms. And we're going to hear first from

          5  the Administration.

          6                 Good morning, Deputy Mayor Walcott.

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Good morning.

          8  It's a pleasure to be here this morning.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: It's a pleasure

         10  to have you.

         11                 MR. HOLDEN: Hi. My name is Ross

         12  Holden. I'm the Vice President and General Counsel

         13  of the New York City School Construction Authority.

         14                 Good morning, Chairperson Lappin,

         15  Council Member Arroyo and Council members. I am

         16  joined today by Deputy Mayor for Education and

         17  Community Development, Dennis Walcott, the President

         18  and CEO of the New York City School Construction

         19  Authority, Sharon Greenberger, and the Manager for

         20  Site Acquisition, Kenrick Ou.

         21                 The New York City School Construction

         22  Authority has undertaken the site selection process

         23  for the proposed Mott Haven School Campus that would

         24  be located on Tax Block 2443, portion of Lot 78 in

         25  the Concourse Village Section of the Bronx.
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          2                 The proposed school site is also

          3  located in Department of Education, Region Number 9,

          4  Community School District No. 7, and Bronx Community

          5  Board No. 4.

          6                 The proposed site contains

          7  approximately 288,000 square feet of lot area, which

          8  is a little over six and a half acres.

          9                 The site is a former rail yard. It's

         10  vacant, it's owned by the City of New York under the

         11  jurisdiction of the Department of Education.

         12                 The site is bounded to the west by

         13  Concourse Village West, to the north by platforms

         14  containing PS 156 and IS 151, to the east, the MTA

         15  MetroNorth Railroad right of way, to the south, the

         16  East 153rd Street Bridge.

         17                 Under the proposed plan, the SCA

         18  would construct a new school facility, accommodating

         19  a total of four school organizations on the site,

         20  three of which will be operated by the Department of

         21  Education, one 573-seat intermediate and high school

         22  serving grades six through 12, and two 549-seat high

         23  schools serving grades nine through 12.

         24                 The fourth organization would be a

         25  544-seat charter school serving grades five through
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          2  eight. The notice of filing for the site plan was

          3  published in the New York Post and City Record on

          4  May 10th, 2005. Bronx Community Board No. 4 was also

          5  notified of the site plan on May 10th, 2005, and was

          6  asked to hold a public hearing on the proposed site

          7  plan.

          8                 Community Board No. 4 held its public

          9  hearing on the site plan on June 8th, 2005, but did

         10  not submit any written comments regarding the site

         11  plan.

         12                 The City Planning Commission was also

         13  notified of the site plan on May 10th, 2005 and

         14  recommended in favor of this site.

         15                 The SCA has considered all comments

         16  received on the proposed site plan and affirms the

         17  site plan pursuant to Section 1731 of the Public

         18  Authorities Law. In accordance with Section 1732 of

         19  the Public Authorities Law, the SCA originally

         20  submitted the proposed site plan to the Mayor and

         21  Counsel on November 16th, 2006, and resubmitted it

         22  on December 21st, 2006.

         23                 We look forward to your

         24  Subcommittee's favorable consideration of the

         25  proposed site plan, and are prepared to answer any
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          2  questions that the Committee may want to ask. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Good morning,

          5  Chair Lappin, and to members of the Subcommittee on

          6  Landmarks, Public Siting and Maritime Uses, and a

          7  special good morning to Councilwoman Arroyo, as

          8  well.

          9                 My name is Dennis Walcott. I am

         10  Deputy Mayor for Education and Community

         11  Development, and as indicated by Ross, I am joined

         12  by Ross Holden, who is the General Counsel, Sharon

         13  Greenberger, who is the President of the School

         14  Construction Authority, and Kenrick Ou, the Site

         15  Acquisition Manager.

         16                 We appear before you once again to

         17  resubmit the Administration's plans to build school

         18  facilities in the South Bronx.

         19                 A month ago, on December 4th, 2006, I

         20  and my colleagues appeared before the Subcommittee

         21  to describe our plans for the Mott Haven Campus.

         22                 This testimony carried forward a

         23  program first announced two years previously by the

         24  Mayor, the Chancellor and myself, and endorsed twice

         25  by the City Council.
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          2                 The plan proposed four schools, as

          3  indicated, two high schools, an IS high school and a

          4  charter school, to serve approximately 2,400

          5  students in separate structures.

          6                 Each school will be equipped with

          7  innovative modern amenities, including dedicated

          8  science rooms, art rooms, technology labs and

          9  cafeteria.

         10                 They will share a building with an

         11  auditorium, library, music rooms, a dance studio, a

         12  college and career resource room, athletic

         13  facilities, including exercise rooms, gymnasiums and

         14  a football field.

         15                 Following that hearing, as there

         16  continue to be issues that warranted addressing, the

         17  City withdrew its application to allow for further

         18  development and consultation. This process has moved

         19  forward addressing issues of environmental concern,

         20  school safety, traffic and parking and decisions as

         21  to the operation of the schools.

         22                 During the past month, I and my

         23  colleagues at the Department of Education, the

         24  School Construction Authority, Department of

         25  Transportation, the New York City Police Department
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          2  and the Mayor's Office of Intergovernmental Affairs,

          3  have met with elected officials and their staff, as

          4  well as leaders of the neighborhood and community

          5  organizations.

          6                 Further, at the request of the local

          7  community organization and Community Board 4, we

          8  provided funding for the independent consultant to

          9  review the Department's environmental plans

         10  previously approved by the New York State Department

         11  of Environmental Conservation and the New York State

         12  Department of Health.

         13                 I have held numerous meetings on a

         14  weekly basis with Council Member Arroyo, staff and

         15  the Speaker's Office. All told, between all of us

         16  there have been several hundred hours of meetings,

         17  consultations, and discussions. I'm appreciative of

         18  the positive contribution of all the elected and

         19  appointed officials.

         20                 As the process has moved forward, I

         21  believe we have come to understand better each

         22  other's concerns, modified some plans, clarified

         23  other issues, and put in process procedures for

         24  addressing those that remain.

         25                 I now believe we are at a point where
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          2  the process may and should be moved forward.

          3                 We are here today to address

          4  questions you may have and to urge your support once

          5  again for this project, one that will end

          6  overcrowding in schools for the children of Bronx

          7  and address a 50-year problem of having

          8  environmental problem on land that will once again

          9  be remediated to the tune of $30 million.

         10                 I look forward to any questions that

         11  you may have.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Ms. Greenberger.

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: Good morning. Good

         14  morning, Chair Lappin, Council Member Arroyo and

         15  members of the Land Use Subcommittee. My name is

         16  Sharon Greenberger, and I am the President of the

         17  School Construction Authority. Thank you for the

         18  opportunity to speak with you again about the Mott

         19  Haven Project.

         20                 Identifying locations for the

         21  development of new schools throughout the City is a

         22  key element of the current five-year Department of

         23  Education capital plan.

         24                 Locating schools in the Bronx is

         25  critically important as the current capital plan
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          2  calls for the creation of 9,900 high school seats,

          3  and 7,800 PSIS seats for a total of over 17,000 new

          4  school seats in the Bronx.

          5                 The City Council has been supportive

          6  of other school locations in the Bronx approved in

          7  this plan, and we have worked with other Council

          8  members to place schools across the borough.

          9                 Examples include the Bronx Studio

         10  Schools for Writers and Artists, or Casita Maria in

         11  Council Member Palma's district, New Settlement

         12  School in Council Member Foster's district, the

         13  former Mercy College site, which contains the Bronx

         14  School for the Visual Arts in Council Member Vacca's

         15  district, and 362X in Council Member Seabrook's

         16  district.

         17                 We still have seats to create in the

         18  Bronx. We are open to suggestions and ideas for

         19  locations. As we've discussed with Council members

         20  and other elected officials over the last several

         21  weeks, we are committed to communicating more

         22  effectively with elected officials on potential

         23  school locations and are open to suggestions for

         24  improving the process. We look forward to working

         25  with the Council on this process.

                                                            26

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES

          2                 At the Council's earlier request, we

          3  are currently conducting Borough Delegation meetings

          4  on the capital plan and will continue to do so

          5  through the life of this plan.

          6                 Concerning the Mott Haven site, the

          7  development of this site requires no acquisition of

          8  property or displacement of existing uses to provide

          9  a full range of amenities for the students. We have

         10  undertaken a comprehensive review of the project's

         11  impacts as required by the State Environmental

         12  Quality Review Act, which Kenrick Ou of the SCA can

         13  describe for you.

         14                 We will perform a comprehensive

         15  remediation that will benefit the entire

         16  neighborhood. Our remedial action workplan has been

         17  approved by the New York State Department of

         18  Environmental Conservation and the New York State

         19  Department of Health and will be implemented

         20  pursuant to their stringent and conservative

         21  guidelines to protect the health of the community

         22  during remediation, assure that all contaminants are

         23  removed, improve upon completion through an

         24  intensive testing program that the site is clean and

         25  safe for occupancy.
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          2                 Safety is of the utmost importance to

          3  us. Mike Sherwood of Shaw Environmental can testify

          4  further to the remediation plan.

          5                 We believe that this project presents

          6  a unique opportunity to provide an extraordinary

          7  learning and physical education environment for the

          8  children of the Bronx, as well as for the broader

          9  community, and we urge your approval.

         10                 If approved, we will meet regularly

         11  with the community through the course of the project

         12  to provide updates and address any concerns that

         13  arise.

         14                 Thank you for your consideration.

         15                 And I'd like to ask Kenrick Ou to

         16  come and talk a little bit about the SEQRA process.

         17                 MR. OU: Good morning, Chair Lappin,

         18  Council members. My name is Kenrick Ou, and I'm Site

         19  Acquisition Manager for the School Construction

         20  Authority. My responsibilities include managing the

         21  public review of the site selection process, which

         22  Ross Holden described previously, and also the SCA's

         23  compliance with the State Environmental Quality

         24  Review Act, which I will focus my remarks on this

         25  morning.
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          2                 Before you, you have copies of the

          3  final Environmental Impact Statement that was issued

          4  by the SCA in October of 2006. This was issued after

          5  the draft Environmental Impact Statement was

          6  published in August of 2006. A public hearing was

          7  held in September of 2006 at PS 156 to solicit

          8  verbal comments on the draft Environmental Impact

          9  Statement.

         10                 The final Environmental Impact

         11  Statement addresses all comments that were received

         12  at that public hearing, as well as in writing,

         13  before the end of the comment period.

         14                 Now, the final Environmental Impact

         15  Statement found that the project could result in a

         16  number of significant adverse impacts to the

         17  environment, almost all of which could be fully

         18  mitigated through measures identified within the

         19  final Environmental Impact Statement.

         20                 Largely these impacts, which are

         21  concerns that the community and the Council member

         22  had shared with us involve circulation and traffic

         23  impacts, as well as some potential pedestrian

         24  impacts.

         25                 Six of the seven intersections that
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          2  were identified as impacted could be mitigated

          3  through the implementation of signal timing changes.

          4  There was, however, a seventh intersection, namely

          5  the intersection of the new East 153rd Street Bridge

          6  and Concourse Village West, where there was a

          7  potential that that traffic and pedestrian impact

          8  would remain unmitigated.

          9                 However, I'm pleased to come before

         10  you today and advise you that subsequent to the

         11  publication of the final Environmental Impact

         12  Statement, through ongoing consultations between the

         13  SCA and New York City Department of Transportation,

         14  the Department of Transportation had agreed that

         15  should this project go forward, it would install a

         16  traffic signal at the intersection of East 153rd

         17  Street and Concourse Village West. There is a

         18  supplemental memorandum that I believe you have

         19  received, which confirms that once that signal is

         20  installed, all traffic impacts associated with the

         21  project would be fully mitigated.

         22                 In closing, I just want to say that

         23  the SCA is committed, as our President mentioned, to

         24  working with the local community and also with the

         25  Department of Transportation as the project moves
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          2  forward and school occupancy nears to make sure that

          3  appropriate and comprehensive mitigation measures

          4  are implemented to mitigate the traffic impacts of

          5  this campus upon the local community.

          6                 At this point, I would like to turn

          7  the microphone over to Michael Sherwood from Shaw

          8  Environmental, who can speak to the specific issue

          9  of the environmental contaminants.

         10                 MR. SHERWOOD: Good morning, Council

         11  members. Thank you for asking me to speak again.

         12  I'll try to streamline my presentation from the last

         13  time I met with you.

         14                 My name is Michael Sherwood. I work

         15  for Shaw Environmental as an Environmental

         16  Consultant to the School Construction Authority.

         17  I've been working on this project for two years with

         18  them.  At the time that I came onto the project,

         19  Phase 1 environmental site assessment had been

         20  conducted and to identify through a file search any

         21  environmental concerns that have resulted from

         22  historical operations at the site. Three things came

         23  up in that file search. One, the site operated as a

         24  rail yard until approximately the 1970s. Secondly,

         25  there is a manufactured gas plant located in close
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          2  proximity to the site from roughly 1891 to 1946, and

          3  in addition there was an off-site gasoline station

          4  located near the site from 1951 to 1977. Due to

          5  these environmental concerns, a remedial

          6  investigation work plan was put together to test the

          7  soil and groundwater and air at the site to

          8  determine if any of these environmental concerns

          9  have had an impact on the property. Hundreds of

         10  borings were completed at the proposed Mott Haven

         11  site below the platforms of PS 156 and IS 151, and

         12  on Concourse Village West, adjacent to the site to

         13  determine the nature and extent of contamination.

         14                 The investigation primarily revealed

         15  impacts in the northwest corner of the Mott Haven

         16  site on Concourse Village West, and a small area,

         17  roughly 50 feet by 60 feet under the corner of PS

         18  156. While I'm mentioning that, I should mention

         19  that, again, PS 156 is constructed on a platform and

         20  this contaminated area is roughly 30 feet below the

         21  platform and the soil is adjacent to the Mott Haven

         22  site.

         23                 After identifying this contaminated

         24  area, a remedial action work plan was put together

         25  under the Brownfields Clean-Up program with the New
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          2  York State Department of Environmental Conservation.

          3  Our plan calls for first and foremost the

          4  installation of hydraulic barriers to protect the

          5  site from recontamination and to isolate it from

          6  contamination that we found on Concourse Village

          7  West.

          8                 After that, tents will be erected

          9  over the remediation area to excavate roughly 19,000

         10  cubic yards of contaminated soil. The tents' purpose

         11  is to isolate the work area, put the area under

         12  negative pressure, and control the atmosphere in

         13  which the soil is excavated, that will protect the

         14  community.

         15                 In addition to the tents being

         16  erected over the work area, there is also

         17  comprehensive community air monitoring program in

         18  place which calls for roving technicians monitoring

         19  the air quality during all investigative and

         20  remedial activities at the site. They monitor air

         21  quality while work is going on.

         22                 In addition to that, after the soil

         23  is excavated, it will be backfilled with clean fill.

         24  The contaminated soil will be trucked off-site and

         25  disposed of in accordance with appropriate federal,
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          2  state and local regulations.

          3                 Any areas that are not being

          4  excavated and are going to remain open after the new

          5  schools are developed and not paved or covered over

          6  with some sort of surface cover will be covered with

          7  two feet of clean soil as an added safeguard.

          8                 In addition to that, the new school

          9  building designs call for the installation of a

         10  vapor barrier below the foundation of the buildings,

         11  and a sub-slab depressurization system as an added

         12  safeguard to protect the occupants of the new school

         13  buildings.

         14                 The small area that I mentioned

         15  before under PS 156 that's roughly 50 by 60 feet an

         16  area, is going to be remediated through a process

         17  called "Insitu solidification." Essentially grout

         18  material is going to be injected into the ground and

         19  turn the contaminated soil into a large concrete

         20  block, which will be immobile and inaccessible and

         21  will essentially isolate the contamination in place.

         22                 The reason why that's being proposed

         23  rather than excavation is that there is a structural

         24  constraint with the nearby platform that supports

         25  156.
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          2                 The remedial action work plan was

          3  approved by the New York State Department of Health

          4  and the New York State Department of Environmental

          5  Conservation.

          6                 One item that was raised by the

          7  independent consultant was concerns about vapor

          8  intrusion from the soils below PS 156 into the

          9  existing school buildings. Due to that, an indoor

         10  air quality investigation and sub-slab investigation

         11  was completed to determine if there was any

         12  contaminants in the air below the platform that

         13  supports 156 and 151, and specifically he was, the

         14  consultant was concerned about compounds PCE and

         15  TCE.

         16                 This investigation was conducted in

         17  December 2006 and revealed that these two compounds

         18  were not detected at or below laboratory detection

         19  limits below the slab of 156.

         20                 Upon completion of these remedial

         21  measures, confirmatory samples will be collected and

         22  submitted to the New York State DEC for review to

         23  ensure that the remediation was complete and

         24  effective.

         25                 In conclusion, I'd like to just
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          2  mention that the remedial strategy is considered

          3  extremely comprehensive and utilizes

          4  state-of-the-art technology. We are optimistic that

          5  the independent consultant will support our

          6  technology and our plan. The site has been vacant

          7  and unutilized for approximately 30 years and in all

          8  likelihood, other developers that would potentially

          9  develop this site have probably passed it by because

         10  of the contamination that's at the site currently,

         11  and the New York City School Construction Authority

         12  is volunteering to clean up this site and spend on

         13  the order of $30 million to clean it up, as a

         14  volunteer and to provide something beneficial to the

         15  community.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. I have

         18  a number of questions, I'm sure my colleagues do as

         19  well.

         20                 I wanted to recognize first that we

         21  have been joined by Council Member John Liu of

         22  Queens, and because there is a Democratic Caucus

         23  meeting taking place downstairs, give him the

         24  opportunity to vote on the Elkins House.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member
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          2  Liu.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I vote yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

          5                 Thank you for coming back and

          6  testifying again. As you stated, Deputy Mayor

          7  Walcott, in your testimony, this was drawn because

          8  there were a number of issues that were outstanding

          9  that the Administration and the Council have been

         10  working collaboratively on to try and address, and

         11  there were three main issues that you outlined,

         12  public safety, traffic and the environmental

         13  remediation.

         14                 I just wanted to do a brief kind of

         15  one-by-one discuss sort of what has changed and

         16  where we're at with those three things, although it

         17  was discussed in your testimony, but in terms of

         18  public safety, where are we now that we were not

         19  before we have -- and I did want to note for the

         20  record that we have this letter from Mr. Holden

         21  about the traffic light at 153rd Street and

         22  Concourse Village West, so that's a step in the

         23  right direction; are there other progress that we

         24  have made on traffic that you wanted to mention

         25  today?
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          2                 MR. HOLDEN: I would just want to

          3  point out that the supplemental information that we

          4  provided and working collaboratively with the

          5  Department of Transportation, we believe that all of

          6  the environmental impacts, the traffic impacts

          7  associated with the operations of the campus, can

          8  and will be mitigated.

          9                 To the extent that that's additional

         10  information that was not available in the final

         11  Environmental Impact Statement because we recently

         12  through the submission of additional information by

         13  the SCA, the Department of Transportation, could the

         14  Department of Transportation confirm and commit to

         15  installation of that signal.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay. And I know

         17  that's something that Council Member Arroyo felt

         18  strongly would help mitigate the traffic in the

         19  area.

         20                 In terms of public safety and the

         21  sheer number of other students that are in the area,

         22  and the problems that currently exist with the local

         23  precincts in handling that volume of kids, I wanted

         24  to ask sort of more concretely what steps are being

         25  taken to addressing of the public safety issues.
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: If I may, let

          3  me just reinforce a word that you used, I think it's

          4  been a very collaborative process that we've

          5  undertaken over the last month, and as a result of

          6  the number of meetings that we had with both Council

          7  Member Arroyo, as well as with staff and the other

          8  elected officials, I think it's been very

          9  informative to us as far as how we move forward in

         10  dealing with this particular project and future

         11  projects, as the President of the SCA had indicated.

         12                 Specifically around the safety issue,

         13  this past Friday we had a meeting with Council

         14  Member Arroyo's staff and other officials to talk to

         15  the issue of safety, and specifically at that

         16  meeting we met the Deputy Commissioner from the New

         17  York City Police Department who is responsible for

         18  planning and allocation of resources and also Rose

         19  DePinto from the School Safety Division in talking

         20  about safety. And what we tried to do was lay out

         21  the process that one undertakes in trying to deal

         22  with the allocation of personnel when you're siting

         23  new schools or relocating schools in a particular

         24  area, and talked about the inclusion of both the

         25  Council Members and other community members, as far
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          2  as how we will deal with the allocation of personnel

          3  in addressing the safety concerns, but more

          4  importantly the internal and the external safety

          5  issue and dealing with safe corridors as well, and

          6  making sure that we identify the points of mass

          7  transit in having a safe corridor program in place,

          8  talking about the proper resources of personnel who

          9  will both be in the school but also working in

         10  conjunction with the local precincts as well.

         11                 I think at that meeting maybe issues

         12  were surfaced, as far as, well, it's one thing to

         13  talk about it, but then when it's time for actual

         14  implementation or action, that may be another thing,

         15  and I think also the Council member and other staff

         16  members have raised a question as far as you can

         17  make a commitment now, but what happens when you

         18  leave? And I think part of the concern was

         19  addressed, at least in my opinion, in that we want

         20  to put a very aggressive plan in addressing the

         21  safety issue. As we have indicated, we're talking

         22  about 2,400 students.

         23                 But at the same time, I don't think

         24  the point has come up where we're not talking about

         25  all 2,400 students starting right away. As with all
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          2  of our new schools, we ramp up the program so you

          3  have a gradual number of students who will be going

          4  to this particular campus. So, I think there's an

          5  opportunity for us to refine our safety plan. What I

          6  thought I heard, and the Council Member can correct

          7  me, is a commitment from NYPD saying that we will

          8  sit down in very aggressive meetings with the

          9  Council member and other community and elected

         10  officials and talk about the plan for the Mott Haven

         11  campus but also correlating that plan to work with

         12  the local precincts in addressing the ongoing issues

         13  that may be raised by the local precinct that they

         14  may not want to share publicly with their commanding

         15  officers and how we facilitate that.

         16                 I think I committed at the Friday

         17  meeting to make sure that we convene the meeting as

         18  quickly as possible, and they can therefore have

         19  regular ongoing meetings in talking about safety,

         20  both the internal and the external.

         21                 We also talked about the other side

         22  of safety in addressing the after school programs

         23  and what I felt was the importance of one of the

         24  major benefits I think of this complex is the use of

         25  the athletic field as well. Very rarely do we have
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          2  an opportunity to build schools like this and have a

          3  football field as a part of that. So, part of it is

          4  how we link in the OST programs that we put in place

          5  throughout the City, the Out of School Time

          6  Programs, and making sure they're supportive after

          7  school or out of school time programs to address

          8  some of the problems that may be evolving as a

          9  result of students not having enough activities,

         10  therefore, possibly getting involved in activities

         11  that may not be constructive.

         12                 So, I thought we had productive

         13  meetings, and I think one of the things that I took

         14  out of the discussion on Friday, we'll have regular

         15  meetings and talk about specific issues connected

         16  to, not just the complex itself, but also safe

         17  corridor programs for existing schools.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

         19                 And I want to come back to the

         20  environmental issues, but give Council Member Arroyo

         21  an opportunity to ask a question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Deputy Mayor

         23  Walcott has accurately described the discussions we

         24  had Friday are on the public safety concerns. I want

         25  to remind him that he volunteered to schedule that
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          2  first meeting, and for the public's benefit, the

          3  meetings will include not only the Council member

          4  and the precinct commanders, but also the community

          5  council for each precinct that was identified in the

          6  area of the 40th Precinct, the 42nd and the 44th

          7  Precinct, which are the communities of concern for

          8  us with regards to the number of schools that

          9  currently exist. And if we can begin to deal with

         10  the issue of youth on youth violence that we

         11  currently experience in the community, we can

         12  certainly make it better if this project is approved

         13  for the future, but also to ensure the safety and

         14  well being of our children today.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

         17                 Council Member Comrie.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

         19  Madam Chair.

         20                 At the last meeting I was asking a

         21  series of questions regarding the environmental

         22  concerns and the environmental plan, and from what

         23  I've heard so far, last month you talked about $30

         24  million in environmental, to resolve the

         25  environmental plan, this month you're still talking
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          2  about $30 million to resolve the environmental plan.

          3  Is there something being done different with the $30

          4  million to increase the level of Environmental

          5  Protection for that school, or is it the same plan

          6  that was presented a month ago?

          7                 MS. GREENBERGER: It is the same

          8  remediation plan that was approved by DEC and DOH.

          9                 I know there have been a number of

         10  conversations back and forth about how we enhance

         11  the process in which we implement that environmental

         12  remediation plan. And Ross, if you want to, maybe

         13  you can mention some of the things that have been

         14  discussed.

         15                 But the allocation is the same. It's

         16  a plan that we believe meets the environmental

         17  remediation needs, as I said, it's been approved by

         18  all legislative and regulatory parties.

         19                 MR. HOLDEN: The one area that we've

         20  addressed with the DEC in addition to the

         21  remediation on site, is the off-site source of

         22  contamination. There was a former gas tank, gas

         23  station, underground gas tanks that are off in the

         24  northwest corner, away from our site but still

         25  contaminated.
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          2                 As a result of the investigations

          3  that were conducted in connection with the, this is

          4  the Mott Haven School site, the Department of

          5  Environmental Conservation has embarked upon the

          6  clean-up of the off-site location as well.

          7                 That will either be done through the

          8  state or if they find a potentially responsible

          9  party to fund that, it will be done that way. But

         10  the work has begun. They are scoping out the precise

         11  way that that will be taken care of. So, in addition

         12  to the clean-up in our site, and the hydraulic

         13  barriers we are building, the DEC is going to

         14  address the other problem expeditiously and we have

         15  their commitment to do so. And I think that was in a

         16  letter that has been sent to the SCA. I think you

         17  probably have a copy of that.

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: If I may,

         19  Councilman, also one of the things that we're very

         20  clear about, the $30 million is the figure that's

         21  been identified, but if there are other issues that

         22  need to be addressed, and it will go beyond the 30

         23  million, we are prepared to address those issues

         24  within the agreement of the SCA and the Department

         25  of Environmental Conservation from the State. But
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          2  the $30 million figure is the figure that's been

          3  officially submitted. So, we do have the ability to

          4  say if something does surface that we will try to

          5  address that, if it goes beyond the $30 million.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, in other

          7  words, as you move into the project, if you find

          8  that there is a more aggressive methodology that

          9  needs to be undertaken once you're actually in the

         10  ground, you will be able to fund it?

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Yes. I mean,

         12  the reality is our goal is to make sure we mediate

         13  and remediate the land and remediate it to our level

         14  of satisfaction and to make sure that if something

         15  that was unknown to us surfaces, that we address it,

         16  and our goal is to build schools on safe land, and

         17  we will make sure we expend what's required to

         18  accomplish that goal.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, I'm

         20  concerned. Page, Chapter 816 of the document talks

         21  about industrial source impacts and the chemical

         22  spill analysis, why you're also going to have a

         23  methodology to deal with the mobile particulate

         24  matters. There is also going to be exhaust fans that

         25  will be placed to take care of emissions that will
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          2  be constant. What's the time frame that you expect

          3  the nitric acid emissions that will be dealt with by

          4  receptor sites are continually moving through the

          5  exhaust fans?

          6                 Is this a permanent type situation?

          7                 MR. OU: If I could answer your

          8  question, Council member? The analysis that was

          9  included in the final Environmental Impact

         10  Statement, which you just quoted with respect to air

         11  quality, was a consideration for the potential for

         12  an accidental chemical spill within the context of

         13  the school lab.

         14                 What happens is in order to have safe

         15  spaces in today's science curriculum, there is some

         16  use of chemicals that if spilled would be evacuated

         17  to the outside of the building to make sure that the

         18  school occupants are safe.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Oh, so this is

         20  for the science lab.

         21                 MR. OU: That's right. This is an

         22  analysis of how the chemicals that are vented would

         23  be dispersed appropriately so as not to create a

         24  concern within the school building, but also once

         25  they're vented that they're not creating a concern
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          2  to the surrounding community. So, this is a slightly

          3  different aspect of air quality than I think the

          4  environmental remediation was focusing on.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But didn't we

          6  talk about last time our remediation being done

          7  where there was going to be remediation from the

          8  soil that would result in -- I forget the technical

          9  term, but a system of air compression?

         10                 MR. OU: The active system?

         11                 MR. SHERWOOD: Yes, we did talk about

         12  that last time. What we're referring to as a

         13  sub-slab depressurization system, it's implemented

         14  in the building design and it's basically this

         15  system of perforated piping that goes below the slab

         16  of the building and it essentially vents any air

         17  below the building to create essentially like a

         18  barrier so that if there was any vapors present

         19  below the slab of the building, they'd be evacuated

         20  from the building, and to the roof, and that would

         21  prevent -- and this, again, is a safeguard. Our

         22  remedial plan is designed to clean up all the

         23  contamination, but this is something what we call

         24  like a belt and suspenders approach, a way to just

         25  be additionally cautious. In addition to the piping,
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          2  there is also a barrier that's installed just above

          3  that piping which is called a vapor barrier, and

          4  it's designed to not allow vapors to penetrate

          5  through it, so those two systems, in conjunction

          6  with each other, provide a very safe technology and

          7  engineering control for the building design.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, those two

          9  systems are not going to be connected to this system

         10  for chemical spillage.

         11                 MR. OU: No. The fume hoods and the

         12  venting from the science labs is not part of the

         13  engineering mechanism, like Sherwood described.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And neither

         15  will go through classrooms? Or how will that venting

         16  be done for the first system, for the remediation?

         17  Where is that going to vent through?

         18                 MR. OU: They go through utility chase

         19  spaces which are designed in the building. They're

         20  like, you know, basically shafts that run up through

         21  the building to allow all sorts of utility and

         22  piping to get from one floor to another to the roof,

         23  and we've, you know, we've utilized those spaces.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And that won't

         25  go through any classroom walls? It will go through
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          2  what, the public stairwells, or electrical shafts or

          3  something?

          4                 MR. OU: No. It would not go through

          5  classrooms. And when it gets to that, before it

          6  comes through the slab, it's no longer a perforated

          7  pipe. Then it becomes a closed pipe, and it doesn't

          8  have any holes in it or anything, just a straight

          9  conduit from the foundation level up to the roof.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And who would

         11  be monitoring the quality or keeping the maintenance

         12  on those particular vehicles to make sure that the

         13  building is safe? Who is going to do the regular

         14  monitoring?

         15                 MR. OU: The sub-slab depressurization

         16  system will be monitored under a site management

         17  plan, which is a requirement of the Brownfields

         18  Clean-up Program, and the School Construction

         19  Authority will be responsible for maintaining that

         20  system and ensuring that it's working and proving to

         21  the State that it continues to be effective.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And will

         23  someone create a reporting mechanism and also a

         24  training mechanism so the public, or especially the

         25  affected community can be technically aware of all
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          2  of the issues so that if there is a spike, that

          3  someone can know about it, if there is some regular

          4  reports that they could make to -- I'm not sure

          5  which group is going to be organized around it, but

          6  say, for instance, the community board, for lack of

          7  a specific group, that could have some direct

          8  training and knowledge and reporting to on a

          9  quarterly basis of the location of the site.

         10                 I say this in light of the fact that

         11  you still have problems with PS 156 that hasn't been

         12  resolved one way or the other.

         13                 MR. OU: The agency that would be

         14  overseeing it is the Department of Environmental

         15  Conservation, and under the site management plan,

         16  you're required to provide an annual report, but if

         17  there was anything in, you know, or any sort of

         18  evidence that there was a problem, I'm sure that

         19  that would be elevated and communicated

         20  appropriately.

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: If I may,

         22  though?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes.

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: I mean, one of

         25  the things that we're very clear about, and
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          2  especially based on the process that we've

          3  undertaken over the last month, is to be as

          4  informative as possible to both elected officials

          5  from the community, as well as the community itself.

          6  So, I mean, we can put in place a process of making

          7  sure beyond what's required on an annual basis on a

          8  quarterly basis keeping the community and reporting

          9  back to the local community board. I mean, one of

         10  the things we want to do is, with this project and

         11  others, is to make sure we have a constant dialogue.

         12  And, so, this is something of major concern and we

         13  understand and respect that, and so as a result of

         14  that, we will be glad to have whatever we design

         15  after, hopefully if this is approved, a quarterly

         16  meeting where it updates exactly what is going on

         17  and the level so people understand that, if there

         18  are specific technical questions, there is

         19  information to the community as well, so they

         20  understand all of the ramifications of the different

         21  aspects of this particular project. So, both in

         22  process of the schools being built, and after the

         23  schools being built, we're very much interested in

         24  sharing that type of information.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay, thank
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          2  you. I just wanted to ask, because at the last

          3  meeting I was concerned about the statement that it

          4  was a level one remediation, when it was a level

          5  four, a level four available. I would hope that, you

          6  know, since this is an outstanding issue, that maybe

          7  it could be built into part of the school's

          8  curriculum and focus, since there are going to be

          9  science labs at the school, maybe it could be part

         10  of the curriculums for the school's science project

         11  overall endeavor where you could train people in

         12  environmental studies in that building. I think it

         13  would be most apropos to build that into the

         14  curriculum.

         15                 Since I do have to go downstairs, I'm

         16  not going to ask any more questions.

         17                 Thank you, Madam Chair. Thank you,

         18  Councilman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. I just

         20  wanted to follow-up because this is a seriously

         21  contaminated site, and before we get to a point

         22  where we're in the ground and we discover that there

         23  are things that should be done in addition to what's

         24  already being planned and $30 million State

         25  DEC-approved plan, I wanted to ask, the
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          2  Administration has very, sort of in a very nice

          3  spirit, agreed to pay for this independent

          4  consultant, who is, as you mentioned, been to the

          5  site numerous times, in meetings with you, and has

          6  indicated that everyone has been very cooperative in

          7  efforts to examine this site. But what will happen

          8  with the plan that this independent assessor

          9  promulgates?

         10                 MR. HOLDEN: Thank you. We've agreed

         11  to take under serious consideration any

         12  recommendations that the independent consultant may

         13  make and meet with the independent consultant, the

         14  school community, the Council, to discuss any of the

         15  potential findings that we are going to implement

         16  and also to the extent we determine that it's

         17  something that is unnecessary or something we should

         18  not be doing, we would also raise those in our

         19  discussions with you, too, so we can explain the

         20  position and see if we can reach common ground.

         21                 So, we have agreed to review and take

         22  under active consideration any recommendations that

         23  the independent consultant will make.

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: If I can just

         25  add to that, I mean, one of the things we take very
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          2  seriously is that this is our $9,500 investment in

          3  this particular study, so we're definitely not going

          4  to have this study sit on a table or a chair. I

          5  mean, we're going to be actively working with the

          6  independent consultant. And the reports that I've

          7  received from our staff is that there have been

          8  great meetings and discussions that have taken place

          9  so far and so we will listen to what the consultant

         10  and others have to say, where appropriate factor in

         11  those recommendations or suggestions, and when not

         12  appropriate, we will also be very direct in saying

         13  why we feel it may not be appropriate.

         14                 But we do not make investments based

         15  on just wanting to do something without having the

         16  appropriate input into doing it and that's what we

         17  want, the appropriate and this consultant will

         18  provide that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I'm happy to hear

         20  that. It was very important to the community to have

         21  an independent person come in and take a look and

         22  it's in everybody's best interest, the children, the

         23  Administration, the Council, everyone, to make sure

         24  that we're doing what we need to be doing, and any

         25  suggestions that this consultant has that will
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          2  improve the plan, I'm very happy to hear that they

          3  will be actively considered and I would hope

          4  implemented and that would be the attitude.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 Council Member Martinez.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

          8  Madam Chair. I want to first commend Council Member

          9  Arroyo for her leadership on this issue. As, you

         10  know, we continue to hear more on the testimony, you

         11  know, when you talk about $30 million just to deal

         12  with the issue of contamination, this is a major,

         13  major task that has to take place in order for a

         14  school to happen, and having had the experience of

         15  having a school that was constructed on a site that

         16  was contaminated, I could very much appreciate her

         17  leadership on this issue, and I think you made

         18  reference to that school over on 231st Street by

         19  Marboro Hill where it was built on a platform, and

         20  yet, years later after the construction of that

         21  school, we heard many of the issues in that

         22  particular building with the students and staff who

         23  had allergies and issues that were not norm in that

         24  environment in the school.

         25                 What are we doing about the soil? You
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          2  mentioned many of what you planned to do, where

          3  you're going to actually construct a structure, in

          4  the football field where we're going to have the

          5  students having direct contact with the soil, how

          6  are we going to ensure safety there in that area?

          7                 MR. OU: The athletic field is turf.

          8  It would be a synthetic field with, you know,

          9  several membranes of, you know, plastics and things

         10  of that nature. There will be no direct contact with

         11  soils to the eastern side of the site, as I

         12  mentioned before. In the design of the school, any

         13  areas that are not covered by the athletic field

         14  itself, which is quite large, you know, or some sort

         15  of pavement, or buildings themselves and the

         16  sub-slab depressurization system that we discussed,

         17  any areas remaining, which are not much, maybe some

         18  landscaped areas and things like that, will be

         19  covered with two feet of clean soil as an added

         20  safeguard to create yet an additional barrier

         21  between the surface and any soils that have been

         22  there historically.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         24                 Again, I didn't quite hear that part,

         25  but I think that's very important, especially when
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          2  we're talking about the open land where we're going

          3  to have open space, making sure that that area is

          4  also protected.

          5                 I want to thank the Administration,

          6  Deputy Mayor Walcott and obviously again highlight

          7  the fact that Councilman Arroyo's position from the

          8  day one when this came to our Committee was hold up,

          9  we need to take a look at this, is it really safe.

         10  And as a result of that, in the Administration's

         11  willingness to come forward and actually sit and

         12  listen to the concerns that the Council Member of

         13  that district had and other elected, I think we're

         14  moving positively in a direction where we could

         15  possibly have a school and make sure that first of

         16  all and most of all our children in the community

         17  surrounding that area is safe.

         18                 So, again, I want to highlight

         19  Council Member Arroyo's leadership on this position.

         20  I know it wasn't a popular one, but it was the right

         21  one, and here we are making the right steps to make

         22  sure we have a safe environment in that area.

         23                 Thank you, Chairwoman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

         25  Council Member Arroyo.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you,

          3  Madam Chair, and thank you, to my colleague, Council

          4  Member Martinez, for those nice words.

          5                 He didn't add the loss of sleep over

          6  the last month, but that's okay.

          7                 First of all, I'd like to thank

          8  Deputy Mayor Walcott and staff from School

          9  Construction Authority and the Department of

         10  Education, the Administration, for your time, and

         11  your commitment to helping us with the concerns and

         12  the issues that have been identified by the

         13  community groups.

         14                 There are still some questions that

         15  need to be answered, I think, and my position is

         16  that I will say no unless absolutely necessary, and

         17  we still have some time to work out some of these

         18  details. One of them, in particular, is the fact

         19  that this project has no parking for the staff, and

         20  I understand it's somewhere in the neighborhood of

         21  270, 300 employees, that includes education staff

         22  and support staff for the facilities. We've had some

         23  discussions about that. What can you tell me about

         24  parking?

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Again, it's as
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          2  they say in the streets "back at you" as far as the

          3  ability to share and dialogue and really have I

          4  think an informative discussion, as far as the

          5  issues that are not just connected to you, but also

          6  connected to the community itself, and we appreciate

          7  our dialogue in the collaboration of addressing

          8  that. And one of those issues really was parking and

          9  the concern of the parking impact on the community

         10  and there are several in one specific option that

         11  may be feasible, but at the same time, you know, we

         12  can't just based on early indications give you a

         13  definitive answer about it, but we are fully

         14  exploring those options as far as trying to address

         15  some of the parking concerns that you and members of

         16  the community raise, and it's fully our goal to

         17  really explore it as quickly as possible and get

         18  back to you with that information.

         19                 Again, if approved, the first school

         20  would open roughly in September of 2009, with other

         21  schools opening in September of 2010, and so the

         22  parking option is something that I think we can

         23  explore and, again, in a process that we've

         24  undertaken in the last month, explore with a variety

         25  of ideas and very honest dialogue between us as far
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          2  as what's feasible and what's not feasible, but at

          3  this point we're not in a position to say that we

          4  have a definitive answer, as far as a specific plan

          5  in addressing parking.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: And before I

          7  go further into any other questions, I want to take

          8  a moment to thank the Chair of Community Board 4,

          9  Ms. Diele Azel, who has been at every single meeting

         10  that we have had, all those numerous meetings the

         11  Deputy Mayor has reference to, I want to thank her

         12  for her leadership on this issue and for her

         13  commitment, and all of the hours that she has put

         14  into working with us to try to resolve some of these

         15  issues. So, Dee, thank you so much, but it's not

         16  over yet.

         17                 The remediation plan, and this is

         18  where we come back to the independent consultant and

         19  the recommendations that this individual will make

         20  to us on the remediation plan, I'm very concerned

         21  about what we're doing to clean up this site, the

         22  impact that it will have on the adjacent school that

         23  has already been identified to have contamination in

         24  a certain section of the property that it's located

         25  on, that the remediation that we do here is going to
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          2  impact there, and how soon can we expect for

          3  whatever the State DEC is doing to complete that

          4  process?

          5                 One of the things that I hope to hear

          6  is a time frame for that. Not that there is some

          7  work already being done, we understand that it will

          8  not happen overnight, but for me and the community,

          9  we need to know when we can expect for that

         10  remediation to be done and to ensure that the

         11  children in that school are safe?

         12                 MR. HOLDEN: We've been in touch with

         13  the New York State Department of Environmental

         14  Conservation. I know they are working on the scope

         15  now. They have indicated to us that they are

         16  committed to cleaning this up above and beyond other

         17  sites around the State because of the residential

         18  density and because of the schools that are there,

         19  and we'll work with DEC to encourage them and to

         20  find out as soon as we can what their schedule for

         21  complete remediation is. But we've had conversations

         22  with the Project Manager for the DEC, Koon Tang, in

         23  Albany, and as soon as we get further information,

         24  we can report that back to the Council.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Hopefully we
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          2  can get that answer within the next day or so.

          3                 MR. HOLDEN: Well, we'll do our best

          4  here at the SCA to get whatever information we can

          5  from DEC, and advise DEC that it's of utmost concern

          6  to the Council.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: And there was

          8  something, and I guess I will have to apologize

          9  publicly to the Deputy Mayor that I had not shared

         10  -- there are some recommendations that are not

         11  necessarily included in what -- we don't have a

         12  final report, but the consultant has shared with us

         13  some thoughts about some things that can be done, in

         14  particular, for 156. Or I think we need to have a

         15  conversation about what we can do, what commitment

         16  we can make in terms of capital for 156 so that we

         17  can possibly implement some recommendation that he

         18  has that's specific to that school, although we know

         19  that that's not what he was hired to do, but it's a

         20  common sense recommendation, and one that I think we

         21  need to consider very seriously.

         22                 I won't say it publicly, because I

         23  don't want to put the Deputy Mayor on the spot.

         24  Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very
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          2  much for taking the time today.

          3                 The next panel will be Dave Palmer

          4  and Ken Olson from New York Lawyers for the Public

          5  Interest, Joel Kupferman from New York Law and

          6  Justice Project, and Veronica Eady.

          7                 MR. PALMER: Good afternoon. My name

          8  is Dave Palmer. I'm a staff attorney for New York

          9  Lawyers for the Public Interest.

         10                 I'm very encouraged that the Deputy

         11  Mayor Walcott said that he plans to seriously

         12  consider the independent assessment. I just want to

         13  be clear that we think there should be no vote until

         14  the recommendations are issued. The independent

         15  consultant has said he can have those issued within

         16  two weeks, and so we think that the Mayor should

         17  withdraw the site application, wait two weeks. The

         18  Council scheduled next meeting is February 1st and

         19  that a vote should take place there.

         20                 We think it would be unwise to vote

         21  without a legally binding commitment from the City.

         22  We've had four consultants now tell us, I'm not an

         23  environmental expert, but tell us there are concerns

         24  with children's health and community health with the

         25  plan as proposed. I think it is correct that there
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          2  are likely remedies that are available that the City

          3  could pay for that would make it so that the site is

          4  safe for children, I just think we need to be smart

          5  and wait.

          6                 The City does have a history of

          7  opening schools, even with plans that are approved

          8  by DOH and DEC and subsequently exposing children,

          9  including schools that have been shut down, and

         10  again, it's irresponsible I think for the Mayor to

         11  push for a vote at this point before those

         12  recommendations have been finalized, and it would be

         13  unwise for the Council to vote to approve it without

         14  seeing the recommendations first and getting that

         15  commitment from the City.

         16                 Again, the report will be ready in

         17  two weeks. We ask that we'll wait for those

         18  recommendations to come out, then we have these

         19  conversations once the full assessment isn't done

         20  and the consultants have had an opportunity to look

         21  at all of the data and make responsible

         22  recommendations. And the Council can vote February

         23  1. I don't think it's unreasonable to ask the

         24  Council wait two weeks so that we could have a look

         25  at that assessment. Thank you.
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          2                 MR. OLSON: My name is Kevin Olson.

          3  I'm also a staff attorney with the New York Lawyers

          4  for the Public Interest. I want to thank Council

          5  Member Arroyo and the City Council for taking this

          6  environmental issue very seriously.

          7                 I do not have much to testify about

          8  here today, since we submitted testimony in December

          9  and we're still waiting for our consultants report,

         10  which should be done in two weeks, but I wanted to

         11  be here to stress a couple of points and to help

         12  answer any questions if there were any.

         13                 First, our consultant has said

         14  preliminarily that he does not oppose this site or

         15  the general outlines of the plan, but if work begins

         16  before his report is in place, it becomes

         17  exponentially more difficult to make any changes and

         18  any adopt any suggestions that he has.

         19                 Second, this process has been

         20  beneficial since December, precisely because the SCA

         21  has known that the City Council has a say on whether

         22  this site is used. Therefore, if the City Council

         23  approves the site without the full analysis, which

         24  should be done in two weeks, it would be both

         25  unnecessarily quick and would allow the SCA to go
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          2  forward without even considering the necessary

          3  upgrade to the Clean-Up Plan that the independent

          4  consultant is about to outline.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 MS. EADY: I'm Veronica Eady. I'm with

          7  New York Lawyers for the Public Interest. I

          8  represent the Concerned Residents Organization,

          9  which is a community group in the Bronx that lives

         10  across the street from the Soundview Educational

         11  Complex.

         12                 I also want to thank Council Member

         13  Lappin, Chairperson Lappin, and Council Member

         14  Arroyo for their leadership on this issue, and the

         15  difficult questions that you have been asking both

         16  today and last month.

         17                 I just sort of want to underscore

         18  what Dave Palmer has said, in terms of the

         19  importance of getting the Independent Consultants

         20  report before the Council votes.

         21                 In the Soundview situation, the

         22  school was already open when we hired our

         23  independent consultant, which the School

         24  Construction Authority, again, in that case funded.

         25  And nearly three years later, that school opened in
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          2  2004, and it was March of 2004 that the SCA signed

          3  its 30-year lease on that site.

          4                 Nearly three years later, we're still

          5  trying to get baselined indoor air quality data, and

          6  so the problem that I see is that the School

          7  Construction Authority, an agency that's in the

          8  business of constructing schools, may very well

          9  construct a school on this site, and I would really

         10  hate to see three years later still trying to get

         11  baseline information while children are inside.

         12                 So, the Council has a chance in this

         13  case to take action and delay for a couple of weeks

         14  to really make sure that that's a safe school, and

         15  we are certainly in support of increasing school

         16  seats in the Bronx, we understand the overcrowding

         17  of schools, and we want to support that. But as

         18  watchdogs for the community, the concerned residents

         19  organization, and the groups in the Bronx who are

         20  working on this Mott Haven school site application

         21  really want to make sure the schools are safe, safe

         22  and healthy.

         23                 So, I implore you to just take those

         24  two weeks.

         25                 MR. KUPFERMAN: Good afternoon. I'm
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          2  Joel Kupferman. I'm the Executive Director of the

          3  New York Environmental Law and Justice Project, and

          4  my words today is do not rush and remain weary.

          5                 I have testified at this table many,

          6  many times, primarily about 9/11, and if we just

          7  look back at 9/11, the City Department of Health,

          8  Department of Education, and Department of

          9  Environmental Protection told us that everything is

         10  safe, including this building, and tests have been

         11  revealed that we had to pull out of the City that it

         12  wasn't safe, that we learned that the students and

         13  the teachers at Stuyvesant High School that were

         14  told that it was safe to go back to that school are

         15  getting ill and some of them are beginning to have

         16  high cases of cancer.

         17                 So, what I'm telling you is to be

         18  weary.

         19                 The City states that they're spending

         20  $30 million to clean up. Thirty-million dollars, as

         21  an experience as an environmental attorney, is

         22  nothing. It's a drop in the bucket. As a matter of

         23  fact, the Deutsche Bank spent $33 million just to

         24  test their building to show how contaminated it is,

         25  and that building is about eight blocks from here.
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          2                 The State, they keep on talking about

          3  the DEC and the State Health Department, kept on

          4  saying that that building was clean, and the last

          5  few weeks have revealed that they're still finding

          6  body parts, despite the fact that it was a clean

          7  bill of health.

          8                 New York State leads in

          9  diesel-related deaths. We're placing a school in an

         10  area near a highway, we know that there's a

         11  vulnerable population, we know that the students in

         12  PS 156 are getting sick already, so we can't take

         13  small amounts of concrete, take it over an area that

         14  vapor is leaking, and just expect that this vapor is

         15  going to stay in one spot.

         16                 We know that vapor intrusion is the

         17  number one EPA and DEC concern this year. They're

         18  telling us again, just like the World Trade Center,

         19  that the contaminants just stopped at Chambers

         20  Street. They're telling us here that the vapors

         21  aren't going to move even five feet, 50 feet, and

         22  now they tell us that they're even putting soil,

         23  they're not going to let the students touch the

         24  soil. So, we have a problem there.

         25                 Also, as a City Council member, and
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          2  as an environmental member, I would not trust one

          3  environmental consultant that the City keeps on

          4  talking about, because this environmental consultant

          5  has done work for the City over and over and over

          6  again, and studies have shown that people who do

          7  work for one supplier or one contractor tends to

          8  bend the rules and bend the figures a little bit and

          9  I would say do not trust one investigator.

         10                 They also talk about hundreds of

         11  tests. The City itself did thousands of tests down

         12  in 9/11 in this area, and it shows that thousands of

         13  tests were improperly done. The City in one

         14  instance, 150 Franklin Street, was given samples of

         15  asbestos in the building and the samples were split

         16  with the EPA. The EPA, the City Department of

         17  Environmental Protection used something called PLM

         18  to test asbestos. They found nothing, okay? Not

         19  detect. Okay, I'll finish up. The EPA, using higher

         20  levels of testing equipment found up to five percent

         21  of asbestos, and it was from those results that the

         22  EPA created the whole clean up down here.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Council Member

         24  Arroyo has a question for you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: You say not to
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          2  trust the City's environmental consultant. Are we

          3  talking about the consultant that was hired to do

          4  the independent review of this project?

          5                 Who are you referring to?

          6                 MR. KUPFERMAN: To do the independent

          7  review. I'm saying you shouldn't trust one. Trusting

          8  should be weary of any one consultant.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Okay, now I'm

         10  confused.

         11                 MR. KUPFERMAN: Environmental.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Okay, so

         13  you're talking about the consultant the City hires

         14  to do the environmental review of the projects that

         15  are proposed under school construction?

         16                 MR. KUPFERMAN: Correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 The next panel is Harry Bubbin.  He

         21  had to leave. Okay. Father Peter Gravigan, Manielys

         22  Divanne, from South Bronx Churches.

         23                 MS. DIVANNE: Good afternoon. My name

         24  is Marielys Divanne Picardo, and I am a lead

         25  organizer with South Bronx Churches in the Metro
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          2  Industrial Areas Foundation. We are here to show

          3  support for the Mott Haven Schools Campus Plan as

          4  proposed, and at this time, I'm going to ask the

          5  many students, teachers, parents, community members,

          6  from the Mott Haven area to please stand up and show

          7  your support for this plan. We were here back in

          8  December and we are here today, because we believe

          9  that the City has been responsible and continues to

         10  show a very responsible plan for this campus.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 We are here also to reinforce our

         13  sense that the City has been responsible on the

         14  environmental side, and to resist irresponsible

         15  efforts to panic people, or to create unnecessary

         16  delay. We are parents, we are mothers, we are

         17  children and people from this community. We would

         18  not place our kids in harm's way. But this campus is

         19  a solution. It's a solution to the overcrowding

         20  issue in the Bronx, and it represents an effort from

         21  the community. We initiated this plan and invited

         22  the City into it. Thousands of community members

         23  signed up in support for this plan, and agree that

         24  this is the right plan at the right time.

         25                 As a result of this plan, as a result
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          2  of our proposed campus, the environmental concerns

          3  were identified, without our campus we wouldn't have

          4  known about the environmental issues, and now there

          5  is a clean-up plan. There is a clean-up plan that

          6  will make sure that the site is healthy and clean

          7  for our kids and that the schools will be built, the

          8  schools that are so very needed in our community.

          9                 Our community wants this campus. It

         10  is needed for the larger school reform, and for the

         11  Bronx as a whole. To say anything else undermines

         12  children, misrepresents the community's desires and

         13  we have heard today that the Administration will

         14  consider the recommendations of the independent

         15  consultant.

         16                 So, not only is there a commitment

         17  for $30 million, but a commitment that will be open

         18  to any recommendations that are needed to ensure

         19  that this campus will be healthy.

         20                 So, I want everybody to understand,

         21  we want this campus, we believe you should vote yes

         22  on this campus, and we believe that there is a

         23  responsible environmental clean-up plan in place.

         24                 We represent thousands of members of

         25  communities in the South Bronx who are for this
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          2  campus, for the children, for the forward motion

          3  that Mayor Bloomberg, City Council and SBC have

          4  worked for, and we are for the environmental

          5  clean-up plan. We are for the Mott Haven Campus and

          6  we ask you to vote yes. Thank you.

          7                 FATHER GAVIGAN: Good afternoon,

          8  Council members. My name is Father Peter Gavigan,

          9  Pastor of Our Lady of Victory Church in the South

         10  Bronx. I've been a pastor in Our Lady of Victory for

         11  22 years.

         12                 I've been in the Bronx when it had

         13  hit bottom. Now I'm still in the Bronx, I'm grateful

         14  to God as I see it coming back alive, and one of the

         15  most precious ways it's coming alive is through our

         16  increased and improved schools.

         17                 South Bronx Churches has a history of

         18  working with New York City and improving public

         19  schools. Bronx Leadership Academy 1 and Bronx

         20  Leadership Academy 2. But here we're today to show

         21  support for this new school program. Why? Because we

         22  support the rebuilding of the South Bronx, and we

         23  support the creation of more excellent schools as is

         24  proposed in the Mott Haven School Campus Plan.

         25                 The proposed plan is for a
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          2  state-of-the-art campus of four small schools.

          3  Without this campus of schools, our schools would

          4  have to be warehoused in other buildings, not meant

          5  to be caring or housed in schools of their size and

          6  caliber. Without this campus of schools, there will

          7  be no environmental clean-up plan at all. But with

          8  this plan as proposed, the City will be investing

          9  $30 million in the environmental clean-up, 30

         10  million or more, without this plan the Bronx schools

         11  will remain overcrowded and of poor quality. With

         12  this plan, there will finally, after all these

         13  years, be enough seats for all the high school

         14  students currently living in the South Bronx.

         15                 That is why we are here today for

         16  this campus of small schools, for the children, and

         17  for the forward motion that Mayor Bloomberg and the

         18  City Council and SBS are working for.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 We've been joined by Council Member

         23  Robert Jackson of the Education Committee.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         25  Madam Chair.
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          2                 Good afternoon.

          3                 MS. DIVANNE: Good afternoon.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I walked in

          5  and I heard part of your presentation and then you

          6  asked the people that were here supporting your

          7  position, students and others, to please stand up,

          8  and almost the entire room stood up. But I have

          9  concerns about this location, and I have concerns

         10  about the contamination, and no one knows better

         11  than me the conditions of our schools with respect

         12  to overcrowding and the need for schools in our

         13  system. I'm sure you're aware of that, considering

         14  the fact that in my district, District 6 in Northern

         15  Manhattan, in the early nineties, we were the most

         16  overcrowded district in the City of New York, so

         17  overcrowded we took over some schools in District 7

         18  and the Bronx and 5, and Harlem, busing children to

         19  District 3, to District 2 to District 1, and it came

         20  to a point where they were, the City of New York,

         21  Department of Education said, well, there's a

         22  cleaners on a hundred, I think, forty-third street

         23  and Fifth Avenue, and we wanted to rehab that, and

         24  there were concerns about that location because it

         25  was a cleaners and the toxic situations there, and
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          2  they said, no, we'll clean it up, and they cleaned

          3  it up and they rehabbed the building and they put

          4  our children in there, and they were monitoring the

          5  site, and the levels of poisons that was coming up

          6  from there was such where they had to remove all of

          7  the kids out of there permanently.

          8                 And my question is, okay, we build, I

          9  assume it's 200 million, let's assume 300 million

         10  dollar campus, and they're going to be monitoring

         11  the levels, and if the levels are unsafe for our

         12  children, are they going to shut down that entire

         13  campus, when children are catching cancer and all

         14  kind of other diseases as a result of that? That's

         15  what my concern is. And I know that that is a valid

         16  concern that I have, and I know that that's a valid

         17  concern that other people have. The health and

         18  well-being of our constituents is number one.

         19                 Number one. Not even the building of

         20  schools. So, I have concerns about that. And as a

         21  member of this body, not this Subcommittee, but this

         22  body, the City Council, and as the Chair of the

         23  Education Committee, I have concerns about that.

         24                 MS. DIVANNE: Absolutely. And we share

         25  this concern. We share the concern because we want
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          2  our schools to be safe. This is a project that came

          3  out of the effort of the people in the community.

          4  South Bronx Churches proposed this campus because of

          5  the need for new schools.

          6                 Now, we're not also willing to

          7  jeopardize the health of our kids, and that's why we

          8  believe in the plan, in the responsible plan that

          9  the City has put forth. We as an organization have

         10  contacted our consultants and have shown them this

         11  plan, and that's why we are here and will be here

         12  every step of the way to ensure that the promises

         13  made that will be kept to ensure that the

         14  environmental clean-up plan will take place as it is

         15  necessary, and to ensure that our kids will be safe

         16  and that our community will be safe.

         17                 I have an eight-month-old baby boy, I

         18  would not want him in a school that is unsafe. Here

         19  we have students from BLA 1 and BLA 2. We have

         20  parents, mothers, clergy, staff, teachers, they

         21  don't want to get sick, and they don't want anybody

         22  on that site to get sick. But we know that we have a

         23  tremendous opportunity here. It's an opportunity to

         24  take a site, clean it up and do two things: clean it

         25  up and also provide excellent facilities for our
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          2  kids, and that's why we believe this should go

          3  forward.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But to go

          5  forward when? That's the question. The question is,

          6  there is a consultant that was hired and the results

          7  of that are not in yet. And there is a time frame on

          8  this by tomorrow. You're aware of that, right?

          9                 MS. DIVANNE: Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I'm

         11  saying, why do we have to rush this? Why can't the

         12  City of New York withdraw the RFP. Let's not rush

         13  into building schools that may be contaminated and

         14  we may have to abandon them in five years or ten

         15  years or two years, and thousands and thousands of

         16  the children that attend there lives will be altered

         17  as a result of that. I am saying why do we have to

         18  rush, because there is a land use deadline tomorrow.

         19                 MS. DIVANNE: And we believe that this

         20  process hasn't been rushed, and we're not rushed. We

         21  believe that we've been working on this for over two

         22  years, we have seen the plan for many months, and

         23  we're with you, we want it to be and believe that it

         24  is a --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: We're rushed.
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          2  We're rushed. We're within a time clock. You may not

          3  feel that you have rushed this process, because you

          4  said you, when I say "you" the community and

          5  community people initiated this process, but we're

          6  up against the time clock, the City Council. We

          7  either vote it up or vote it down, or if we take no

          8  action, it goes forward. So, don't you think that

          9  we're put in a jam in that situation?

         10                 MS. DIVANNE: I believe that what

         11  we've heard today, what we heard in December, and

         12  the process that we've been through in the last

         13  month, all the meetings, the negotiations, the back

         14  and forths, and what we've heard today from the

         15  Deputy Mayor ensures that a yes vote will be a yes

         16  vote that will keep this plan going but also that

         17  the conversations and recommendations and the

         18  negotiations will continue to ensure that the campus

         19  gets built but that it's built in a safe place.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: In a safe

         21  place?

         22                 MS. DIVANNE: In a safe, on a safe

         23  ground, on a safe site. And that's what we believe.

         24  And that's why we believe that saying no to this

         25  campus is delaying once again and pushing to the
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          2  side something that, it's good for the community and

          3  delaying the clean-up of the site. We want that to

          4  get started.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I agree

          6  that the site should be cleaned up, regardless of

          7  whether or not a school is built there or not. It

          8  needs to be cleaned up. But I think that when it

          9  comes to schools, and placing schools, and we're

         10  looking at toxic locations, I think that is just

         11  fundamentally wrong in the first place.

         12                 I think that we need to look at

         13  places that are not toxic and that will do harm to

         14  our children and our families that attend there.

         15                 And when you look at schools that are

         16  going to be built, I think we just have to be

         17  innovative. I mean, in fact, the Department of

         18  Education is moving in the direction of tearing down

         19  the school at 52nd Street and Second Avenue. What's

         20  the name of it? Is it Art and Design? And they are

         21  going to, a developer is going to build a condo

         22  right at that location, but part of that is they're

         23  going to build a brand new school that's going to be

         24  in there, which will house I think that school and

         25  another school. We have to look at other ways in
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          2  order to build schools at sites that are friendly

          3  towards the children that we represent.

          4                 So, I am saying that I agree with you

          5  that it is appropriate to have more schools and to

          6  build a beautiful campus that this looks like, but

          7  I'm saying I don't feel that we should be rushed

          8  into doing it just because we're up against a Land

          9  Use vote tomorrow.

         10                 So, thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. And

         12  before I bring up the last panel, I just would say

         13  that we need more than promises, and particularly

         14  because promises made today by individuals who won't

         15  be here when a majority of these schools open, is

         16  not enough for us, because we have a moral

         17  obligation to ensure that these children are going

         18  to be safe.

         19                 Council Member Comrie.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I

         21  wholeheartedly agree with you, Council Member

         22  Lappin, on that particular issue. I think that all

         23  of us want to see smaller class size, more schools

         24  built, the opportunity to even our reengineered

         25  properties so we can maximize school space in the
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          2  City where we have dwindling land resources. It is

          3  important that we all work together to ensure that

          4  we find whatever property available that we could

          5  build for schools.

          6                 One of the things that I've been

          7  calling for since before I got on the Council,

          8  especially since I got on the Council, is to ask the

          9  City to buy sites even before they're ready to build

         10  because we're running out of land space, to look at

         11  ways to reengineer particular sites now because we

         12  don't have enough, we don't have the class size

         13  necessary to really make sure our children are

         14  getting a fair and equal education.

         15                 But, you know, I want to just

         16  highlight what Council Member Lappin has said and

         17  what Council Member Jackson has said. Unfortunately,

         18  the track record of the Board of Education with

         19  remediation in schools is not good. Soundview is a

         20  problem, where they have contamination based on a

         21  site that the Board of Education built. PS 156, as

         22  you heard, is a problem. Council Member Jackson has

         23  listed other schools. I have two schools in Queens

         24  that were built on sites that are problems. And we

         25  will not be doing our job or doing the community a
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          2  service if we don't try to push to get the highest

          3  level ore remediation done at that site with enough

          4  checks and balances.

          5                 I can appreciate the community

          6  looking at this for however long that they've looked

          7  at. I can appreciate the high desire of people who

          8  want to make sure that there is a new facility with

          9  a track in all of the wonderful vistas (sic) that

         10  that looks like in the picture, but as Council

         11  Member Lappin said, we won't be here, School

         12  Construction Authority won't be here, Mr. Holden

         13  will be onto a new job, all of the people at School

         14  Construction will not be here by the time this

         15  school is built and this Administration is built,

         16  and we have to be responsible now. So, we have to do

         17  the necessary checks and balances to ensure that

         18  what was done there is done thoroughly. I'm upset,

         19  and you were all here at the last meeting when they

         20  talked about the fact that they didn't believe that

         21  anything larger than a first level remediation was

         22  necessary when there's a fourth level remediation

         23  that would be dealing with crops. I think our

         24  children are the most precious crop that we have,

         25  the most precious resource that we have, better than
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          2  any plant or food life, and we're building

          3  generations of people to survive, to hopefully in

          4  the next millennium, but yet the remediation level

          5  is the basic level of remediation, the minimum level

          6  of remediation has been approved by agencies that

          7  are not dealing with children. And I'm concerned

          8  about that.

          9                 So, I think that we need to at least

         10  wait for the independent review and I'm concerned

         11  that the independent review's may be audited,

         12  because we are dealing with children. We are dealing

         13  with making decisions that will affect people that

         14  we are not going to touch directly but we're going

         15  to impact their lives strenuously, possibly, or

         16  hazardly if we don't do the right thing now.

         17                 And I want to just commend Councilman

         18  Arroyo and Chairman Lappin for trying to focus on

         19  that and on making sure that before we make a

         20  decision as a Council, that we are assured that

         21  every effort is done to protect children of this

         22  City. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

         24                 The last panel is Chaira Salem and

         25  Omar Salem.
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          2                 Welcome back, Omar.

          3                 MS. SALEM: I would like to thank the

          4  City Council today for allowing us to speak, and

          5  also for the important points that you have brought

          6  up, and the important points that you did bring up

          7  while discussing the environmental issues that

          8  surround the proposed site.

          9                 I wanted to ask everyone a question

         10  but everybody seems to be leaving. I wanted to ask

         11  them how many of them actually live around the site.

         12  They could be community members but not actually

         13  live around the site. And I'm sorry to see that

         14  they're leaving and not giving me an opportunity to

         15  speak to them.

         16                 I would also like to say that I am

         17  very displeased with the Mayor's Office and the

         18  Deputy Mayor. I thought that they were trying to

         19  work with us when they hired, gave us the funding to

         20  hire for an independent assessment, and it gave us

         21  hope that our voices would be heard, and then I only

         22  found out about this decision on Wednesday.

         23  Wednesday evening I knew that this was taking place,

         24  and it just crushed me, because it was total

         25  disrespect to the community members who have been
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          2  committed to this project, to seeing that this

          3  project is done correctly. And I'm very sorry to say

          4  that, I'm very sorry to see that the Mayor has this

          5  position, hasn't had the forthright to come up to us

          6  and say, well, you have this deadline before we put

          7  in the application again. He did not do that.

          8                 I would also like to say very quickly

          9  that a beloved member of our community has passed

         10  away last week. Michelle Macklin. She worked in the

         11  PS school 156 right under, her classroom was located

         12  right over a very high concentration of

         13  contamination, and she was diagnosed with cancer.

         14  And she did not know that the contamination was

         15  there. And she went through the tests, took her

         16  sabbatical, her cancer did go into remission. She

         17  went back to the same classroom where she always

         18  taught, and she died fighting. And it's very

         19  disgusting to know that this was known in 2001 and

         20  nobody told her. Not the City, not the people who

         21  found the contamination, whether it was Shaw

         22  industries or whoever, and it is disgraceful and it

         23  is very disrespectful to the community.

         24                 Well, he's a little shy, but Ms.

         25  Macklin who passed away was his teacher in
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          2  kindergarten, and he was very sad when he found out

          3  that she had passed away.

          4                 He basically wanted to emphasize

          5  before, that he wanted the school to be clean, the

          6  site to be clean before the schools are built,

          7  right? Is that what you want to say?

          8                 OMAR SALEM: Yes.

          9                 MS. SALEM: And his rash has not gone

         10  away. It's still there. And most recently, after the

         11  vacation I found of another mother who had a similar

         12  rash, her son who had a rash that was a little more

         13  acute. It went into his mouth and into this throat

         14  and he had to be fed intravenously and did not spend

         15  Christmas at home. These are just some of the things

         16  that are going on in the community. And I would like

         17  to, please, I am begging the Council to reconsider

         18  voting on a plan that, you know, when all of the

         19  opinions and the reports are not being put in -- I

         20  still have faith, I still have faith that our voices

         21  will be heard, and if they would just wait the two

         22  weeks, then, you know, I have a feeling that it will

         23  be okay, that we can put in the report and have them

         24  revamp the plan and everything will be okay.

         25                 Is there anything else you want to
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          2  say?

          3                 No?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 MS. SALEM: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Seeing nobody

          8  else here to testify, this hearing is closed. This

          9  meeting is -- the hearing is closed but the meeting

         10  is recessed until 9:15 tomorrow morning to be

         11  followed by the full Land Use Committee at 9:30.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 1:02 p.m.)
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